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Current and back issues of The Devon Historfan (excepl for numbers 7. L1, 15, L6 and
23) can be obtained from Mrs 8. Stirling, Devon & Exeler Institution, 7 The Close,
Exeter EX1 1EZ. (Number 22, which is available, wos nol o ‘normal’ issue, but was
totally devoted to being our first Biblivgraphyy, Copies up to and ineluding No 26 are
priced at £3, post free, and from No 37 onwards v4, Also availahle pest free are Indea to
The Deven Fistorian {fov izsues 1-15, 16-30 and 31453y, and Devon Bibliography (1880,
1981, 1982, 1983 and 1984} all £2 each. Bibliographics for move recent yenrs ave avail-
able from Devon Library Services,

The Vice-Chairman, Mr John Pike, 82 MHawking Avenue, Chelston, Torguay TQ2
6ES, would be glad to acquire copies of the ent-uf-stock numhers of The Devon
Historian listed above,

NOTE FOR CONTRIBUTORS

Articles ave weleomed by the Hon, lditar to be considered for publieation in The Devon
Historign. Genevally the length should not exesed 2,000 - 2,500 words { plus notes and
passible illustrationsy, atthouwgh much shorter pieces of snitable substance may also be
acceptable, as ave items of information concerning museumns, local societies and partic-
ulae projects heing undertaken,

For sssist the worle of the Editar and the printers please ensure that contributions are
clearly typowritten, on one side of the paper only, with double spacing and adeguate
mavgins, aud alse, as far as possible, thad the journal’s style is foellowed on such matlers
s the restrained use of capital letters, initial single rather than deuble inverted com-
mas, Lhe writing of the date thus e g 1 July 1936, ete.

TEIGN BRIDGE IN TEIGNGRACE

DL B Thomas

To most road users Teign Bridge, with its hump backs and length of narvow canse-
way made elfectively narrower by imregular parapets, is no more Lthan a minor irri-
Lation, and few vealise that ve metres o so holaw the road ave the remains of one
of the sldest masonry beidges in the Hritish fstes Begween 1844 and 1837 Thomus
Whitaker prepared o seb of drasvings' of the bridges maintained by the County, and
Lhe structures that cat e seen odey al Teign Bridge differ little from his deas-
ings. The main bridge, over the River Teign, ix a single span masonry arch bridge
built of blue ligs and granite ashlar in the neo claszical style, The arch i3 segren-
tal in shape with a vise/span valio of 1275, 0 span of 52 feet G inches (16 moetres)
and a width between parapets of 20 feel (6 metrest A short distance in a north
casterly direetion is a bridge af stodlar constructtan probably built as a food relief
strueture and of T4 feet £436 metrest span, Abool 300 metres in @ 2outh westerly
divection From the main bridge is 2 varraw hump hacked hridge built of stone and
brick etossing the course of the Stuver Canal. This s o single span segmoental arch
gtructure with a riseispan ratlo of 16, o span of 16 feet 1437 melrest and a width
between parapets ol 12 feet 0360 metres) The wreh voussaivs are of a butf engi-
neering brick with embossed keystanes on either face, ‘Phat on the soathermn side
depicts the head of a bearded man, and that on the northerly the head of a goat,
The latter has very realistie eyes giving it a cather corie appearance.

The remaining bridges are conneeted by o continusus purapet so that the whole
toales ke a single causeway, Whitakers Bridge Deawings show that, in Lhe midedle
of the last century, they were independent masoney arch seructures and, of cousse,
they would have been buoilt s sueh. There ave seven bridges, one of Lwo span and
the others single span. Five have arches that ave Lhree centred in shape and the
other Lwo segmental. Spans vange from 12 feet (057 metres) to L8 leel (5,48
metres? and the width betwaen parapets is nominally 20 feet 16.09 metresh All aee
built of a grey limestone.

Teign Bridge must have-existed before Domesday as it vefers Lo the Huandred of
Teinehruge’. In 1412, Bishop Stafford refors to a bequest of 3s 4d (17 pence) for the
maintenance atf Teipnbridpe Bridge. On 12 January 1434-5 Bishop Lacy made a
grant of an indelgence for the ‘repnir, alterntion and maintenanee of the bridge,
on 9 October 138 he made a grant of forty days indulgencee for its “repalr and
allevation’, and on 26 November 1452 he made a similar grant for ‘the building,
vopalr and maintenanee’ of Teignbridge™. Leland, in 1543, refers to ‘Chiddeley
Bricdg of Swne’ and states that ‘Teigne Bridge a 3 Miles lower” but does not men-
tion ils matevial of construction. Westeole’ wrote in 1630 that Teign Bridge was “for
lingeth vers long and rather to be termed a causeway than a bridge’ and Risdon™, in
Rix survey of 1640, noted in relation o Lhe river thal -In this bavge tevel, her conrse
is erawned wich a hridge of great lenglh for so few arches; and in this regard mem-
arable that the hundeed takelh nane thereot”. Curtously, none ol the maps of
Opilby (L6785, Donn™ 11765 or Mudge® (1809 names the bridge aithongh all
show ifs posifion,

The fivst report in the Quarter Session Record is in 18997, when My Carrewa of






for the work should be delivered by 23 February 1813, There is no doubt thal the
county surveyor intended to tender for the work and for similar work to Chudlcigh
Bridge, He had more or {ess completed his contvact for the reconstruction of
Cowley Bridge in Exeter and a further two sehemes would have provided useful
continuity of employment. Possibly he would have been able to do the work for the
estimate: it was his estimate. anyway. But the magistrates had hecome concerned
aboul the propriety of a paid official cont acting 1o carry oul works fon his employ.
ers and had made an ovder banning the praciice, An obviously choked James
sreen wrobe Lo the magistrates” pointing out that his salary of £400 per annum
was not ‘equal to their this family’s) suppory and that he felt assured thal the -
istrates would not wish him ‘Lo sit down at a time when (he) ought o be doing
something for a young and increasing family besides barely supporting them',
Sympathetically the magistrates raised his salavy to €350 per annum. This
exchange must have delayed matters and it was got until I February 1815 that a
contract for building a bridge of ashlar of 50 foet (15,24 melrest was let to Gregory
Weatherdon of ‘Newton Bushetl in the County of Devon Builder™ in the sum of
ELA26. 134, 4d, 71£1,426,68). Chudleigh Bridue, very similar in consiruction but of
60 feet (18,28 metres) span. was let to Bdward Taylor™

Work on both schemes got oft to a slow start, By midsummer 1815 the court
advised the bridge committee to withheld payments o the contractors for this and
Chudleigh Bridge unti] the county survevor had reported on progreas, [n his repot
Crreen stated that ‘there had been some Deviation from the orviginal Plan’ and the
contractor had made a claim for extra payment.” There, apart from the matter of
the extra pavinent, the matter might have ended but for the interest of Thomas
Tayloy, one of the distriet magistrates, Taytor considering it to be this duty as a jus-
tice, resident within fowr miles of the spot, to pay particular attention Lo ..
progress’ on the bridgeworks, vecorded certain discoveries during the works and
published them in the form of 2 paper which was vead to the Society of Antiquaries
ot 5 Mareh L8LE, the paper being subsequently published in its Jouwrnal in 1821,

At Epiphany 18167 1t was reported that, because of obstruction of the course of
the river in May and June L8156, surrounding land had been {looded and the own-
ers were claiming compensation. The cowrt's first veaction was that this was the
contraclor’s responsibility but the magistrates seem to have relented and appoint-
e three of their number to examine and setlle any claims. Weatherdon, the con-
teactor, pevsisted in his elaim for extra payment to compensate him for his tosses
caused by delays when the discoveries reported by Taylor weve investigated. Again
the magistrates seem Lo have acted veasonably and, at Baster 1817, he was
altowed the sum of 26680 aver and above the conlract figure.

During the rest of the century two Further items of major expenditure feature in
the Order Book tor this complex of bridges, In 18342 ane of the arches of the cause-
way ebllapsed and had to be rebailt at a cost of €137, Barly in 1354 the bridge
over the Stover Canal was badly damaged during tlooding and the vepaiv of the
damage cost L1740 125 9d, (837464 Bul Green’s bridge remained trouble free as
did most, but not all, of his other schemaes,

To get back bo Taylo's discoveries, [n his paper he deseribed the existing bridge
fthe one that existed before the works started) as a two span structure, built of
prey Hmestone in o very rough manney’. A sketch accompanying the paper shows
that the arches were roughly three centred and that they sprung from the spring.
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ings of an earlier bridge. Taylor refers to this earlier bridge as the ‘ved bridge’ and
states that it was built of a ‘hard red sandstone’ from Bishopsteignton and was a
“work exeented with great cave’. The arches weve buill in two ordevs, the lower
order being 20 inches (508 mm) deep and dressed 3 to 5 inches (76 to 127 mm)
thick and the upper order being 17 inches (432 mm? deep and oversailing the lower
by two inches (51 mm). The arches were pointed in shape being fairly flat with a
span of 20 feet (6 metrest and a rise of 5 feet (1.5 metres). There were five spans:
the lwo southern forming the foundations of the grev bridge, the middle being
demalished so that the foundation of Green's new bridge could be excavated and
two northern were, and still are one imagines, under the present road.

The excavation for the south abulment of the present bridge was through the
invert of the existing bridge and, al a depth of about 16 feet (4.87 metres! below
bank tevel on a bed of gravel and stones, was discovered a framework of vak
baulks, The frame was rhomboid in shape, the centre member being 17 to 24 inch-
es (432 to 610 mm) square and 23 feet {7 metres) in length and the side members
about 12 inches (305 mm) square. The holes wheve upright timbers were morticed
into the frames were visible. When excavating for the northern arch of the present
bridge similar timbers bul framed into a different pattern were discovered al the
same level as the first. Taylor surmised that these timber frames were the bages of
a timber trestle bridge. As excavation for the northern abutment continned the
piers of another bridge were discovered. These were rhomboid in shape and buill of
‘fine white free-slone’ ashlar. The clear span between these piers was slightly more
than the span of the red bridge arches, say 21 feet (6.40 metres), and their deplh
aboul 8 feet {2.44 metres). No ground was excavated north of the centre arch of the
red bridge; if it had been, further evidence of the white bridge might have been
found. Referring to the ‘causeway’, Taylor stated that ‘840 feet of it were rebuilt
aid widened aboul six years since’. Taylor concluded his paper by speculating on
the age of the four bridges, the existing grey bridge he supposed to have been built
in the sixteenth century, the red bridge in the thirteenth century and Lthe timber
bridge Lo he ‘as old as the Conguest’. The white stone bridge was a Roman work
and part of the Fogse Way ‘connecting the chain of fovtified eamps which extend
along the coast’.

I July 1884 at Newton Abbot. James Bridge Davidson read a paper™ on Teign
Bridge to the Devonshire Association. Apart from a dissertation on the dervivation
of pavish and hundred names including ‘bridge’, the papev is a critical appraisal of
Tavlor's assumptions. He aprees thal the lowest bridge of which the white ashlar
piers remain is ‘the unguestionable remains of Roman architecture’. He puts the
timber bridge at 1084 when, he states, the hundred court was moved from
“Taintona (Kingsteignton) o ‘Tanebrige’ iTeign Bridge). He stated in a footnole to
s paper that the mortices veferred to by Taylor may have been for the uprighis to
arty i roof for the shelter of the assembled court which seems Lo indicate that
Davidson thought the timbers were at deck, rather than base. level. The red
bridge, he states, is fixed' at 1434 on the basis of Oliver’s lranslation of Bishop
Lacy's registers”, that is, the granting of indulgences to penilents contributing to
‘the building or repairing of Teignbridge’. Davidson accepts that Taylor's supposi-
Lion thal the prey stone bridge conld be sixteenth century but suggests, on the
basis of an average life of the bridges of 243 years, it may have been a seventeenth
century struclure.



Commander and Mrs Woolner looked at the problem of the origin of the white
bridge from a different angle. They stated. in the introdoclion to o paper ~ giving
the resulls ol their researcch, that ‘As o hridge cannet veasonably be studied apurt
from the road crossing it, and in view of the practical impossibility of studying the
foundations of the actual bridge, their enquiry had been focused on the road. The
section of road Lhey studied was from the A38 and A380 junction at Splatford Lo
Tedgn Bridge and on this length they found ample evidence of agger (Roman road
pavement construction). The plotting of the survey showed that the general trend
was south westerly and all comparatively recent alterations o this roule were to
obtain easier gradionts, As to the chotee of Teign Bridge as a suitable crossing loca-
Lion, they rightly paint aut that (o cross further upstream would have meant cross-
ing various lribatavies of the Teign (Ventiford, Bovey, ete), and that theve is an
island of firm ground midway acrass the valley of which the road builders took
advantage. In their conclusion, the Wonlnees wrote:

Ag Lhe desipn and construction af 2 road such as we have deseribed ts not con-

sanant with mediaeval practice we ave led naturally to Lthe conclusion that the

voad over Greal Halden and down to Teignhridge is of Roman origin, and that
the eavliest foundalions of Teignbridyge ave, thevefore, almost certainty Roman
also.

The road al Splatford would huve,corme from xeter so that theve seems o have
bean a Roman read fromn the southern gate of the Roman legionavy fortress al
Exeter, over the Exe by a bridge and on over Haldon to the bridge at Telgngrace.
There cannot be any doubl thal the Romans built the bridye of white ashlar found
by Tavior. It was one of two Lypes of Roman constraction™ used in Britain and, in
any case. at Lhe ower depth preceded the Limber and red’ bridge. Whether or nat
it was part of the Fosse Way, as Taylor suggested, is & matter for conjecture,

At some time after the white bridge was built, the deposit of atluviom carried
down by the viver rajsed the level of the bed hy aboul 5 feet (1.5 metresy The white
brickgre would then be of no use and would have to be veplaced by a bridge at a high-
ar level The morticed Limbers vrecorded by Taylor show that the replacement
bridge was a timber trestle structure but do nol give any clue ax to when, between
the demnise of the white bridge and the building of the red bridgi, it was built. It
could have been as carly as the Anglo-Saxon Conguest. The Saxons were good car-
penters atd cevtainky made use of mortice and lenon joints, The oak base found at
Teign Bridge wuas identical to one found in a pier of the Long Bridge at Bideford
when it was being widened in 1925, and Whiting, in 2 paper read at Bideford in
1948™, said, without giving reasons for his statement, thal a timber bridge had
preceded the existing Long Bridge by 200 veavs, that is, since the middle of the
thirteenth century. The timber in the superstructure of trestle bridges has, by ils
nature. to be replaced al vepular intervals although good hardwoods have been
preserved in a maoist coneition below ground level for millenia.® It is prohably true
to say that a timber trestle bridge suceectud the white hridge between the Anglo
Saxon and Norman Conguests and thut the base recarded by Tavlor could have
heen instatled around Lthe date ol the Norman Conguest but could have been eavli-
er, What a shame radio-carbon datine had not been invented in Taylor's day!

The medieval Church, as a mojor lnndowner and obliged under the threefold
burden of trinodas necessifes Lo build and momtain bridyges, was awave that it
made good ceonomic sense to replace timber Lreste bridges with more permanent
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masonry structures, Bishop Lacy seems to have been more aware than moest and
he was the prime mover of much ol Lhis replacement work in his diocese. Bisbop
Stafford= bequest of 1412 and Lacy's grants of indulgences of L34 and 1438 indj-
¢ate thut the timber Telgn Bridge needed a lot of atlention and his grant of indul-
gences of 1452 [or ‘building” rather than repaty” shows that he had grasped the
nettle and decided on a masonry hridge. Taylor's deseription of the vod bridge as a
swork osecuted with great care’ and the use of avches in two orders poind to a pre-
Reformation structure. The rather (Qat shape of the pointed arches is one that
tended te be used in the latter halt of the {ifteenth and the first half of the six-
teenth centuries, This, then, is Lacy's bridge built during or a little afler 1452,

The ‘grey’ bridge was not really a new bridge but an adaptation of the red bricge.
It scems curions that the area of waterway ot this Lwa apan bridge was less than
that of the {ive span ved bridge bat, vory prabably. it wis decided to conlain the
Teign in a narrow channel rather than ta aflow iy to spread over the meadows, The
technique of turning a new avch on the springings of o previous one to increase the
freehoard as done with the grey” bridge was azed on Plym Bridge near Plympton
in 1618 and tends to confirm that the grey hridge was built early in the seven-
teenth century. Taylor stated that the brdge was built in ‘a very rough manner’
and. indeed, the standard of workmanship for o century or so afler the
Reformation was poor, As stated previously, about £1,500 was spent on the bridge
bBetween L1808 and 1E14, a much greater sum thioy any spent hetween 1600 and the
eud of the eighteonth century. Vory probably the work earvied out for this sum
included the ‘grey” bridge alterations and the huilding of arvches further north of
the bridge to form a eauseway When built thuse arches formed unconnected strac-
tures, a continuous parapel being built by Green in L8111 at a cost of E700 The
three centred shape of some of Lhe arches Lhal exist today 15 the same as that of
the ‘grey’ bridge and undoubtedly these were buill at the same time, The others,
segmental in shape, are ealy nineteenth century work.

The small bridge over the remains ol the Stover Canal was built in L7898 az part
of the canal project, The canal was built as a private venture by James Templer of
Stover Flouse in Teigngrace, hig engineer being Thomuas Gray, swevevor to Raveter
Caorparztion, and the bridge was probably designed by him. The symbolism of the
decornted kevstones is abizenre, The man's head is sinmilac to heads used on key-
stones elsewhoere aind could depict Neptune, Bot why a goat's head? The Templers
fnvoured projecting Kevstones, and two bridges on the estale have this feature as
well as Stever Bridge built by the Newton Bushell Turnpike Truast in 1773, There
was a tablet, insevibed with the names of loeal magistrales®, built into the outside
ol the northerly paropet until quite recently (Novemboer 1895), This parapet was
demplished 1 an aceident and the tablet badly fractured. The parapet has been
rebuilt und the tablet s beinyg repaired prior to being incorporated once move in

the bridge™

Notes and References

Devon Record Office (hervealter DROY Bridee Plan Books 3 voluwimes
Chope, R, Pearse, 1926-7, Rarly Bridges ete, Decon & Corntead] Notes &
Querics thereafter DONGQ), XIV, p 94
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TOPSHAM FORT

Sadvu Bhanji

Many Topshamn residents helicve that there was a (ol in their town during the Civil
Wars of 1642-16851, although it is not lsted among those known to archacoiogists)!
This paper reviews the archive and published evidenes

Instructions issued in January 164228 (or the delence of Bxeter, then in parliamen-
tary hands, incfuded making the nearby port of Topsham on the River Exe secuwre
from attoclk .’ A ship, the Oiigence, had been hived in December 1642 for the protec-
tinn of Topsham harbour, bat ao record survives ol any laod defences. Within weeks,
Excter was under siege and Topsham had been eccupied by the Royalists, The first
konown references to a possible fore in this town oeaies in connection with the Earl of
Warwick's attempl in July 1643 to relieve Bxeler by sailing up the River Exe and
landing men at Topsham,

A letter purportedly by an Exeter resident, LS. and daled 3 Aupust 16843 reported
that after ils arrival near Apsom (Topsham) Warwick’s (oree demolished a fort and
killed sixty or seventy of the enemy,' In 1920, Sume drew aftention Lo the letter and
asked where the fort might have been” Responding, Holnan suggested theee possi-
ble positions for a et at Topsham during the Civil War: on the Chreenlund mud-flat
off 'Purt, on the Steand betow Mount Howe, and on swhal was in 1920 the upper gar-
den of Follett Lodge. Althouph the last site commands a good view of the river and
hie knew of cannon balls [und there, Holman opted or the fort being below Mount
Flowe.”

The tille page ol the tract publicizing the letter by LS. mentions Warwick arriving
‘at a place called Apsom’ and sending the high shoerilt a demand Lo raise the connty
in his support. When this was vefused, the Barl sent 3 or 4 small Ships, who bal-
teved dawn a Fort where the Cavalelvs harbouved, W thy ground, and slew B0 or 70
of them.” The Lext deals in the main with other mutters, but the relevant passage
reads as follows:

The Earte of Warwicke at his arrivall neerc our Castle at Apsom, sent a message

to the high Sherilfe, commanding him to ratse the Country upon the posse

Ceamitatus, that thereby he might hawd men awd srdnance, commanding hin in

the name of King and parlinment to assist him to keepe the prace of the County,

but the Sherrife obstinately refused it, saving hee had o Proelamation from his

Majestie lo the contrary: then my Lovd sent three ov Joure small ships which

buttered downe a great Fort tevell to the ground where the Covalieres har-

houred, but Jeft their freehold. as the Cavalleves torme i, with the losse of sixdy
of seventy of them siaine:

There are other contemporary tracts which refer to Warwick's presence iwound the
mouth of the Exe. The title of one proclaims a fetter from the evarl in which is
deseribed the taking of forts and srdnance Bom the Royvalist Cornishmen whe had
besieged thi city of Bxeter. The text provides fittle amplification of the title, the
major theme being Warwick's tnek of ships and victuala, The letter, from aboavd the
Sweifi-sure at Topsham-Bar and dated 19 .July 1643, beging:

I Have received Yours of the 11, of this Moneth. ol am now in such haste, as f

eonnot sy mueh to you: [am here at Topsham Bacrve, and huve begun by Gods
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blessing well vesterday, having taken all the Forts on beth sides the River, and

Sixleen Peoee of Ordnanee, and now have sent up some smatl Ships w secure

the River. with Eight Hundred Land and Sea-men, [ hope this day, il the rain

hinder not. to give a gond push tu the Businesse [ came bin?

A newsletter published on 7 August 1643 gave a different vorsion of events, but
still from a stance which favaured Parluunent. 16 was reported that Warwick’s sol-
diers and seamen had taken Exmouth, but had been deiven out and a forl ve-oceu-
pied. His ships woere then fired upon and one or two frigates were sunk. This rever-
sal of fortune was said to have been due to Jocul Royalists spreading false veparts
that Warwick's men were a foreign enemy. Hearing this, men focked from the sur-
rotmgding eountryside wid austed the Pavliamentary leeees. This could have been an
eagageraent of his which Warwick chose not to mention, but appears more likely ta
be deseribing the vepelling of the foree led by his subordinate, Caplain Rebert
Moulton during the previous month. On 25 June, Moulton had sent three ships into
the Exe. After some suceesses, a combination of an inclement wind and an ebhing
tide trapped thenr against Exmontiv bar They were then fired at by Royalist guns
placed at Exmaouth and Stiveruss”

Warwick’s tleet wag routed when it veached Topsham, three of the four ships heing
Jost. The Royalists had sunk boats in the river to ohstruet the progress of the
Parliamentary ships, which then ran aground as the tide ebbed and were bombarded
from temporary gun emplacements on the shove, First-hand acenunts of the engnge-
ment do not make any moeation of a fort, nor does a newsletter report based on
these ™ More general contempovary descriplions of the Royalist and Parliamentary
cmapaigns in the Westeountry likewise made o comment on a fort ar enstle at
Topsham.” Fortified buildings were, however, deseribed al Exmouth and
Pawderhimi, Powderham Castle was held by the Rovalists, but was not to surrender
until January 1645/6. Exmouth Fort fell to Parliament in March 164576, aud had
been serong enough to withstand o siege lasting for over six weeks.” {n an account
published sixty vears aller the event, Clarendon described Warwick's ships sailing
up the Exe and being fred upon by the Rovalist defenders for some three or four
hours from improvised pon emplacements. There is no mention of a fort. Tn his ¢las-
sie histary of the Civil War, Gardiner devoted only a seatence Lo the incident, refer-
ring neither to Topsham ner a fort.”

A number of parishes border voto the Exe estuary and the se either side of ity
mouth, and Clyst St Geovge lies bul o sheet distanee away along a major tributaey,
Clyst 81 George, Dawlish, East Budleigh, Exminster, Littieham, Powderham,
Topshary, Withyeombe Raleigh and Woudbury all somumenced their registers before
Lhe Civil War', bul the fivst entries for Lympstone and Kenton were not $0 be uatil
L6534 awl 1684 respectively. Gofortunately, neither the register nor the episcopal
return for Powderham conlain any buriat enirvies (or 1640-1652." The Clyst St,
Grorge vegisters were damaged severely during the Second World War, but a tean-
seription exisis. ™

During the month bepinning 15 July 16843 the bwrials of burteen men wore
vecorded within the vight estuary pavishes for which data ave available, Onty five
made burials had been recorded during the previous two months, This was o statisti-
cally stgnificant reverse of the overall Lrend during the corresponding three munths
i 1641 1642, 1644 and 16457 The tnerense tn the male Pavial rate during the
month after Warwick’s arvival in the vicinity was due to more burials than usual
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ocetring in Topsham and Dawlish (four in caclo., The increased made death vate in
Topsham cannol be explained solelv o the basis of sudden carnange o mid-July
LG-L3. There was g vise in both male and temale deaghs which reached s peal in the
avdumn of LGB and Lested untl Maveh 164374, The vise in Dawlish was an isolated
event, and b5 i keeping with the skivmishing following the arrvival of the
avBiamentary (Teel,

Militury buriads ol non-parishioners would not abways he recorded in the register.
An alternadive rellection af any toss of life is the cumber of wouneded, At the Quarter
Seastons held ar Tapsham in August 1643 only lour men were awaorded o mainmed
soldier’s pension (o their part in defending the lown, Three were Trom Olery St
Mary and one from Bradnineh

Churchwardens” records fr £6843 have survived for Clyst St George, Litilcham
and Woodburv' The Littleham expendilure for 1647 ineladed 22 shillings speut on a
sword, musket, bandolier and rest, and ninepence on having the parish wmuslet
broughi from Otiery St Marw There 18 no other reference to any wae-ltle activily
Topsham accounts exist from P73R, and mention gravel being collected from *ve Fort”
i 1743 However, this could have been Fxmouih Fort, tts site is marked oo vigh-
teenth century maps of Lthe Exe estuary whereas na tord is shown at Topsham,” The
mention of gravel Is consistent with o Civil War deseription of Exnmoulh tord heing
bl on gand. *

Mitles carried out an historical surves of the Devon parishes in around 1755
[nformation on a number ol nuaters, including local ancient castles and slgnificant
bistorical events, was sought by postad guestionnaire. Regrettably, none wers:
retumoed by the incumbernts of Clyst S0 George, Exminster, Lympstone, or Topsham,
The rospondent Prom Powderham velerred Milles to Brice's pecount of the Civil War
siege of Powdertuan Castle s bul obherwise there was no veport of any standing o
Fuiveed fort or caslie on the Exe estuary,

There are a namber of accounts of the topography and history of Devon befre the
Civi War, Describing the River Bxe, Leland mentioned a0 castle af Powderham and
the ruins of o battemented manor-house at Bxninster, but no Melitieation at
Topsham. o 1599, Hooker listed the Devon casties and [urts as ose at Fxeter
Poswderhany, Dartmowth, Totnes, Plympton, Mount Edgecombe, Barnstaple, Lyvdford,

Wondbury, Nutwedl, Hemyock, Cadbury and Torrington. - Discnssing the defences of

Englund in 160U, Thomas Wilson stated Lhat many castles had either fallen into
ruin or had been converted Lo dwellings, Some were heing maintained as defences
against Spain, but the only such easties Bsted in Devon were thase at Plvmouth and
Dartmouth” Similarly the sole fort or castle in Devon thought warthy of note by an
anonymats army officer who toured the west of England in 1643 was Exeter
Cartles Risdon, whose survev was cornpiled hetween 1608 and 1630, reflerred to
[Esmouth onee having had o castle but now ao detienee other than a barred haven

and the inhabitants” valowr, Regaoeding fortification higher up the Exe estuary he
stated that Nutwelt Cowrt was ar aue Lime o castle but had been remaodelied as an
attractive dwelling havse - Weitiug ot svound Lhe sanme time as Risclon, Westente
and Pole described Dowderhanm Castle and Nutwell Court, bat ke himy made no
muention of any fort at Topshao, ™ Finally, on 13 Avgust 16842, nine days befare
Churles Uraised his standard at Nottingham, @ letter was published bating Apsuny,
Feignnuarth, Darvtmouth and Plymaouth as ‘places of strength’ in Devan with maen
lervztl Lo the king., However, despite the title of the tract ity not clemy whether foetifi-
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valiens hiwl been crected in all these towns”

A Far o tater Devon histories are concerned, Lthe letter by 1.5, was cited by the
Lysuns beothers, when they wrole in an influential history of Devon that the ] of
Winrwick battered down a tort al Apson” during the Civil War and killed sevonly or
eighity men.* Although oot acknowledged, it would appear also to be the basis for
Worlhts fater statement that the Earl of Warwick had destroyed a Royalist-huilt fort
at Topsham, with sixty or seventy defenders beinyg slain, A different version was
given hy Lewis, but again with no reference w te source, He wrole that the Rarl of
Warwick brought some ships up the Exe during the Civil Way and captured a small
fort al Tepsham. Confusing the defending commander. Siv John Berkeloy with his
later adversary, he added that as the tide tell {he ships were then taken or burnt by
Fabrfax ' By contrast, no account of any attack on a torr at Tapsham during the Civil
War aceurs int the works ol Brice, Polwhele, Moove, or tatterly Hoskins.* Jenking'
history ol Bxeter contains aa account of Warwick’s invasion similar to that provided
by Clarendon, and withoul specific reference to either Topcham or a fort.~ The
Vietoria History ol Devon has nel been continued beyond the first volume. The
intended chupler on Devon’s maritime history does not refer to o forl or castie ot
Topshanm.” Erskine, in a recent account of the coastal defences of Devon, menlions
the Earl ul Warwick destroying a tort at Topsham. Tracing back from the cited
sowrees leads to LRSS letier,

The case for a fort or castle al, Topsham during the Civil War would seem w rest in
two contemporary fetters tom LS. and from the Earl of Warwick, However, the title
page of the tract containing the lotter from L3, does not state wnambiguously that
the destroved fort was at Apsom. Moreover, in the lext Lhe wdiosyneracies of seven-
teenth century punctuation prrmit two interpretations of neeve vur castle at
Apsom’ - near to our castle which 1s nt Apseni: or - ot Apsom, which is near to our
castle, Warwick wrote from o place he called Topsham Bae Theve is. as Moulton
tound to his cost, a sand bar opposite Exmaath which resteicts passage in and out ol
the viver, but no such barrier has been kuown at Topsham. Tt is likely, therefore, thal
the Barl was off Exmouth and that the forts he toold were those which had bombard-
od Moulton's ships. Warwicl's reterence to Tapsham Bar is understandable, as in his
time Exmouth was no more than an insigaificant fishing hamiet whereas Topsham
was o muajor port. Historteal conlusion between Topsham and Exmouth is not ancom-
men, but usually exapgerates the importance of the latter,

The opiinn that there was a castle or forl at Topsham at the time of the Clivil War
appeirs to derive ltom sources which have been misunderstood amd cannot be cor-
rohovated witly uny certainly, By present standards, it ix dillicult to congoratutate LS.
wi his ebarity, On the other hand. evedit may be deserved for producing o piece of pro-
paguada which suill has inftuence three and a half centurics Tater.
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DEVON’'S PLACE IN THE ART OF
CHURCH BELL-RINGING

Juhn Sige

The craft of bell-founding is certainly o very ancient one, and early monks probably
had an influence on the use of bells, hanging them in church towers as eart ¥ as 7H
A1)} Possibly the oldest church bell in England which is dated is one in Yorkshire,
with Roman numerals MOCLUTL The eartiest vecorvded founder was operating in
L236." A nationad survey recorded details of numbers of ehureh bells in towers in
Eagland in 1553, and Devan's hells were listed by the Rev. FLT.Ellacombe, whao vis-
Tted mast lwers arannd 1860, and by Charles Pearson in LBS8. A study of bell
castings and their inseriptions reveals mueh of the founders’ individual handiworl,
s with those of ather ancient trades, such as mason’s marks, Very early bells
would have had a wooden shatt attached to the headstock earrying the bell,
enabling il Lo he vocked sufficiently to make its elapper strike. A quarter wheel,
Lhen o hall wheel, snd eventualy a full wheel were developed, progressively
improving the control up to today's high standard. The pecutiarly English way of
ringing church bells w changes soan*ollowed on from the full civete wheel control.
and only o few places abrond have adopted the Bnglish system as distinet rom
plaving bells to tunes.

Early bell-dounders east their bells neare to the church neading them. or ad the
tower hase as at 8L Mary Mgjor, the small church fnow detuolished) that stood Lo
the west of Exeter Cathedral, as vevealed by excavalions in 1970, Taday, we have
only two main bell-loundries, Lhe Whitechapel lundry in Londan, and that of John
Taylor & Co. at Loughborough, both of which agree that wadern metheds of easting
differ very little from those used centuries ago. The aren which has seen great
improvements in our electronic age is that of tuning the abready cast betl, At the
foundry a CORTE is built on a base with brick and loam, very precisely shaped with
w eontrally pivoled “strickle’ and then highty polizhed and balked; this sives the
required inside shape. An outer casing is used to contaim the moulded sulside
shape. and any required foundry markings and inscriptions are propared in
teverse on the inside of this polished COPE, which 3s placed over the enve s well
clamped, The glowing white hol molten metal, of 777 copper and 2300 tin, g ran
fram the frnace into o huge ladle hanging from a guntry. This is moved toward the
moulds, and the molten metal poured into then. Days elapse to allow cooling
belore removal. Bach nowly cast bell will be clamped upside down on the tuning
stand and a cutter used to shim ofl metal fram the inside face until the partial
Lonex and the fundamentals arve all perfoct. A headslock is cast, Lo which the bell
and its clapper will later bo bolted, Phis has flaoges for bolting on the wheel, a cast
sockel to reveive Lhe stay - which will he used as a vest to hold the bell upside down
Just over the balance when beag, and gudgeans welded for pivoting in the henr-
ings, Modern headstocks wre archad far the heavier bells, so that some ol Lhe
weight will be above the pivet paint. Side frames are cast. wooden wheels, pulley
boxes, and stavs made in the carpenters shop, and, if for a complete ring, every-
thing ts agsembled al the undvy prior to delivers,

The bellhangers {ask i the Lower is nat an cusy ane, often he has o work in o
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very confined space, dealing with heavy and valuabde bells and their sreave, e
Harry Stokes, of Woodbury, carried out much work in Devon's towers around 1904,
installing new lrames and vepairing others in oak. and much of his craflsmanship
atill eeists,

Learning how to ring a chureh bell under instruetion from an experieneed vinger
mey take only a fow lessons, hut to be able to be in complete commane of the pra-
cise Liming of the strile on both sides of the bell's swing requires patience, disdiea-
tivn, and some determination, The main point at which control is achieved s whon
the bell just passes top-dead-centre, drawing the vope tighi. momentorily th be hald
o that position until pulled off again at split second timing. and with the Precise
eftort required Lo reach the same point of halanee at the next mouth-up position.
Fhe art can only be learnt by persistent practice aned personal cxpericoce. Having
masteved the physical handling, the mental work of vinging changes can now be
attempted. and in Devon we have two ringing orpanisations, with slightly diftorent
objectives but being mainly complenmentary. The Devon Association ot Call Change
Ringers anty alters the sequence of the sirildng hells 1z and when a conductor calls
a speeilic change, and the bells remain in thal order unkil another change is called.
This enables each of the hand Lo concentrate entively on the precise strike point of
the hell, and the standard reached is very high indeed. To some ears this ean
become monotonous. The Guild of Devenshive Ringers was formed in 1874, and
was one of the very carly guilds formed in the countey to ring by ‘method’, a syslem
which was developed in the seventeonih century Lo vary changes continuously,
made possible by the whele wheel contob of the swinging bell.

A beginner will progress from rounds’, the bells striking in seguence from the
smallest highest pitched bell catled the teehle, Lo the lavgest, the tenor: then Lo
‘Plain hunting’, when the bells change velative positions at each strike with the odd
numbered bells nioving upwards towsrds the baek and last in sequence, and the
even numbered bells moving downwards towards the lead to take (heir places,

Having achieved a reasonable standard at this, the pext stop is Lo learn & simple
method such as Plain Bob', The: hasie rale of this method is that the bell svhich is
Lurned from the leading posttion by the treble strikes at ‘sally’. and vad rope aftor
her, and theo leads again. This has the effect of blocking the path of the next
descending bell, and so to avold repetition this bell steps backwards for o blaw
betwe caming in to fead 0 whole pull later Similaly others following do the same
The other bells un their upward path also step back befire proceedin g om then origi-
nal course, and so aCdodge’ takes place between each pair above the secomds place
bell. With five changing bells oaly brty changes can be obtained with the hasie prin-
ciple. and so it i necessary to inbroduee ‘BOBS called by a eonductor, which ave the
affeet of inbroducing a fourths plave “Lie’ instead ol the seconds place He as above; in
arder to achicve all the necessary changes Lo ring the ‘extent’. This term is wsed for
the mzimum numher of bells, e with 3 bolls 6 only, with 4-24, with 5-120, with -
720, with 7-6040, and with 840320, This latter was a tavget aimed at for many
years. [t was finally achieved at Loughborough bell-foundry on 27 and 25 July 1963
hy vight men vinging cantinuousty from 6.52 a.m. on the 27th to 12.50/ a.m. on the
28th: Bstened to and checked al] the time by toar umpires, Method vinging is corlain-
Iy not somnatter of learning oot of figures, but rather of complying with certain rutes
or signposts, and these are progressively notieed and adhered Lo, each ringer in the
hand oheying the seane conditions but at different times,
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Farly in the Second World Wenr on 13 June 194, ocban was imposed on the ring-
ing of church bells because it was telt that na beller warning system could be
devised Lhan their use as a stgoal of the landing of enemy forces. Thig han was lift-
wtt fur a few hours on 15 November 1942 Lo celebrale the vietory at Bl Alamein,
and alse I one howr on Christmas Day of thatl year; and then finally lifted on 27
May 19013 However, due to a very veal threeat, and some communication misunder-
standings, i lew hells did ring oul during the night of 8 September 1940 from some
Westemmtry towers,”

Thi: LA survey of church bells records that Luppitt then hod 5 77 f befles yn fhe
doreer thelr | and Rev, H T Ellacombe, then rector of Clyst St George, has given us
detatts of the four here al his vigit on 11 May E865. The olidest two. treble and
third, wre relerred bo as Jesug” bells because of the inseription they hath carry *fost
il collation ie fsiud nomen amatent” translated as ‘there has becn contorred
on me thal beloved name Jesus' They are not dated as were many carly castings,
but are thought to be of about 1450, The second bears o ensting date of 1774, and
the lovely toned Lenov of 104 cwt, in F shavp with the tnseviption Aoe Ware
Chratic Plenia’ s considered to date from abeat 1580, Its founder, a much boteer
eraftsmuan than scholay, has alzo identilted hinmseldl with ‘NOSMESREGOREAMTE
sebin the casting in reverse with the letters IR and 5., all backwards, The arrival
of the curale of Uffeulme to becomoyVicar of Luppibl in 1927 was the inspivation
which led Lo & complete rostoration af Luppitt’s ring of bells. The Rev, LE Prows.
was a very keen bellringer ond two new trebles were added and all six hung in o
new cast and steel frame by Jdobhin Tavlor & Co., dedicated on {9 November 1925,
Several teenage boys were taught to ring and method ringing was introduced.
Alter duties at Exwick, in Bxeter, and al Upottery, My Prowse returned to Luppitt
in 1958 for a second spell of about ten yeurs as our vicar and we set about the tosk
of another augimentation to a complete octave. The purchase of a modern bell of 714
cwl was a step in providing metal, and the collection and sale of waste paper, cord-
board. haler steing, paper feeding stulls bags, ete. {rom toead farmers contributed to
evengual success by the band, who were able 1o build the extra twe pits and to
hang the new bells themselves, This entailed the transter of the 1R24 bells Lo Lhe
nesw pits, and then putting the 1874 bells in theiv pliwes to gel the rope crele cor-
vocl, The nese bells were dedicaled at a special scrvice on 30 Novoanber, 1974, From
photographs available a record of nearvty sixty shides was built up concerning
Oporation Notave’

As distinet from ringing chureh bells, when the bell swings o full circle cach way, the
‘chiming of bells indicates that the bell is either simply rocked to make the capper
strike, or remains stationarv. mouth down, but is struck by an independent hammer, a
ball of metal pivoted on an arm. manually operated by a separate vope. or by gome elec-
trically operated automatic svstem, as at the ‘Granges and Lemons' church of St
Clement Danes in London, where the hammer is outside snd clear of the swinging hell.
The rope and lever system such as we have in Luppitt tower was devised by the Rew
H T.ENacombe and is oporated fram the base of the tower, The mechanism allows cach
cope to be wound up and held by o vatehel, thereby pivoting the hammer opwiards
inside the mouth and just elosr of the soundbow of the bell, When each is adjusted
evenly the aperatar can putl the ropes u any desired order mevely to strike changes, or
1o play any of over fifty hyvimn tunes available on the octave, This ratchet wast nlways
be releasad so as o prevent damage to a swinging bell.

20

7
!

A Bellringers CGuldet gives an up-to-date and very comprehenaive st of nearly
GOOO rings of belks, with much information ahout them. Bevon has 368 rings ol live
or more, conlaining a lotal of nearly 2400 bells, to which prust boe added those with
Faner or tewer bells, Only three other counties in Britoan have aore than 200 vings,

Netails of the bells of Bxoter Cathedeal, with their nounes, wse, and history, have
Leen given by the Rev. J.S3cote, ‘Grandison” Lhe Tudl elircls swinging tenor being of 3
tons 121/, ewl.

So why do we ring church bellg? And why over the eouturies has so much mooney
and care been gpent on thew? Towers and spires were ercetad to poinl the human
soul upwards to its Creator and Redeemer, and hetare the days of ciock and wateh-
es, the svund of the jovous bells conveyed their message Clonte and join g in wor-
ship’. Thoey «till do, Most brides enjoy their sound on their special happy day, but at
times thoy have alsze convoyed to listeners a sad message in the ringing of the
‘dleath bell', indicating the apge of the deceased and whether male or fomale. At
funeral and memorial services some families prefer to have the bells hadomuffed,
This is done by tving a leather pad to one side of the elapper bell, giving the effect
of an cchin sound following Uhe open side; olhers profer the bells” vormal open sound
as proclaiming nat defeat bul of vietory over death, To some, ringing bells Is o Tasel-
nating habby, and change cinging by method presents an open-ended chadleuge
which ean be taken just as fur as an individual desires and s nble o goo But i
shoutd adways be remembered that these expensive musieal instroments are pea-
vided and maintained for one main purpose, that of the Glory of Gad.
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BARNSTAPLE’S ROYAL VISIT

Elizabeth Hammetk

On asummer’s day in June 645 Prinee Charles. fifleen-yeav-old heir to the threne, rede into
the thriving Lown of Barnstaple in novth Devon, But this was no ovdinary royal visit, for the
country was in the thivd vear of ¢ivil war and the prince had vecently heen appointed by his
father, King Charles [, ‘First Captain-CGeneral of all our Forees'. The prince was accompanied
by his tutor, his governor, Lord Hopton and three troops of Lord Hopton's Hovse, Also with
him were various members of his Couneil, the most important of whom was Sir BEdward
Huyde, tator Lord Clarendon.!

The prince was tall with long dark haiy, his tator, the Bishop of Salisbury, said he had a
‘gentle and sweet disposition’. The party had come to Barnstaple to escape the plague which
wag present in their previous headguarters al Bristol, Although the lown was strongly in
favour of Parlinment it had been held by the Royalists since the previous Seplember. It is

untikely that there was much rejoicing al the prinee’s visit and there ave reports that some of

the inhabitants were rejoicing for guite a different reason - ai the news of the king’s defeat in
the battle of Nasehv. News of this defeat, which look place on 14 June, probably reached the
roval party about the time of their arvivad i Barnstaple, and can havdly have contributed to
acheerful atmosphere.

At least there was no shortage of accommodation or provisions. One of the roval entourage
was Richard Fanshawe, Secrelary Lo the Council. Hig wite was with him and much later
when she wrote her memoirs of these times. she said of Barnstaple that there were all sorts
of good provision and accommodation’. She was particularly fond of mazzard (a type of cher-
ryvi pie eaten with ‘Uheir sort of eream’. Presumably this was the clotted cream which is still a
tourist attraction.:

The prince stayved with a wealthy widow of vovalist sympathics. Crvace Beaple, The exact

whereabouts of her house i not known, but tradition states that it was at the southern end of

the High Street, possibly with its main entrance Bom the Guay of what was then a busy port.’

We know something of this house because when Crace Beaple died five vears later an
mventory was made which names the rooms.” Theve was g halk, a partow, a study, vartous
chambers, an inner and outer kitchen, larder and a buttery. There was also a garden walk
whete perhaps the prinee and his followers strolled and wossiped in the summer evenings.
The widow must indeed have been wealthy for the inventory gives the value of her jewels and
rings as £52.00 and that of 'her wearing apparell wollen and linnen” as £60.00 with money in
ber purse to the value of €18.00. This was what was lelt after her haspitality to the prince had
vesubted in her persecution by the trivmphant parliamentarians who ave said to have plun-
dered her of goods and money to the value of 22,000, an enormous amount in these days.

Although she presumably had servanis, it was reporled that his hostess prepared and
served the prince’s food hersell She also lent him money. Long after her death when the war
was over, Cromwell had died and the prince was King Chartes T, Grace Beaple's daughtoy-
in-lzov presented 2 petition to the kiong fov reimburgement of her loszes and was granted
£200, In discharge of money lent and services rendeved to the King when at Barnstaple in
the County of Deveon'.

However, the prince and his Council were not on heliday, but at the contre of the rovalist
wat elfort in the west of Bngland and after the defeat at Naseby the king's only hope of sue-
cess lay with the west. Unfortunalely. the best efforts of Sir Edward Hyde and the cooneil
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were Useless against Lhe arropanee and self-seeking ambition of the principal generals of the
westorn armies, Siv Richard Grenville and Lord Goring. Both made themselves thovoughly
unpepular amongst the focat population of whatever politieal sympathy. Aceovding to Hyde,
Lord Gaoring spent his time drinking and playing, leaving his undisciplined troups to plunder
Lthe eauntryside and terrorise the population, The appalling behaviour of ‘Goring's Crew” was
remembered even & hundred vears later in some parts of the Westcountry” In one of Lhe
many disputes aver command Sir Richavd Grenville appeared before the Prinee’s Council at
Barnstaple to petition personally Lo he ‘re-established in the command of those men he had
formally levied'” Although he was an experienced commander and the foeus of a eertain
affection and loyalty fronn his own, mainly Cornish, troops, Grenville’s subsequent indepen-
dent hehaviour was more of a hindrance than a help to the royalist cause.

At some Lime during their stay in the town, the prince and his Couneil weve visited by the
prineek cousin and the king’s Tientenant General, Prince Rupert. e was al Barnstaple on
28 June, but soon left to retarn to Bristol to prepare the city for withstanding a siege.’

As well as discussing matters of strategy in the west, there were constant letlers being sent.
to and from the king and his advisers, who weve then at Raglan Castle. There seems to have
been a supgestion that the king should jein his son at Barnstaple, but nothing came of it. On
23 June the king wrote to his son telling him that if he (the king) should at any time be taken
prisotter by the vebels, 1 command vou fupon my blessing! never 1o vield to any conditions
that are dishonourable, unsafe for vour person, o devogatory to regal authotity, upon any con-
sideration whatsoever, though it were for the =aving of my life; ... ™ Probably to begin with the
war had seemed like an adventure to the young prinee, but it was now deadly sovious,

The prince staved at Barnstaple for about a month, leaving avound @ Juby, A few days later
Lord Goring retreated back to the town having suffered a defeat in battle at Langport.
Various schemes lor raising an army in the west to go to the aid of the king, or even to defend
Devon and Cornwall came in the end to nothing. The prince travelled around Devon and
Cornwall untid, wheh it was obvious that the voyalist armies were defeated, he left for the
Istes of Seilly in Maveh 1646, He would not return to England until he was restored o the
throne in 1660,

[t was & very unusual voyal visit, but it seems the town gained the roval approval, for ina
postseript to a letter written by Sir Edward Hyde from Barnstaple on 25 June, he says, “The
Prince is much delighted with this place. and indeed it 15 o very fine sweete towne as ever [
saw
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WILDLIFE AND THE PURSUIT OF GAME
IN THURLESTONE AND NEARBY PARISHES
IN THE PRESENT CENTURY.

Neville Oswald

A lundved yoesrs ago wild grey pavividges abounded in Thurlestone, togelher with a few
wild plieasant and thousands of rabhits, the game birds were shol under Jicewee and the
vabhits, regavded as vermin, weve trapped or shot by the villagers. A detailed description of
the seene in the years jusi before Werld War 1 was recorded informally by Geoflyex
fchbald,” whose faiher had shooting rights over maosk of the pavish, Fis aecount tosether
with the reeoblectiung of sevoral partshioners and olhers who have known the distimet fur
very many yeavs give an insight into the changes that linve occured during this century

Thurlestune bad much to offer young Geolfrev. Given his fivst shot gun when he was aged
fourteen, e sonn fearnt to use spaniels Lo Qush rabbits out of brakes and hedgeraws. He
then proceeded Lo the move exacting task of ferreting on the sea eliffs that were honey-
combed with warreng: the vabhiis, having no vpen way of escape. scutbled from one hole to
another, being visible for ondyv o second or two hefore they disappeared. Those that were
brought down fell Lo the rocks, sand and sea below and were at timoes vetrieved only with
mueh difficulty. Thurtestore Lea o reedy inarshiand extending about half @omile inland
from the seas. was adive with duck during their early moruing and evening fights; in places
where the reeds wore nob tou high snipe sathered, o wisp of as many as thirty often rising
at the same time, to set off o their voregador ighes, Drifring silently down the river Avon
at dusk frmm Aveton Cilfard on the ebb might vield some duck or wood pigeon or pechaps a
partvidge or phensant. Flis apprenticeship comniteted, Geuffrey was allowed to lake his place
with Lhe guns, as the sons of the raher privileged shonting community had done for gener-
atimms,

Shooting Heenees weve cheup betore and after World War 1 and anybody coutd buy one,
Many Farmers possessed o gun with which they tricd to limil the damage done by rabbits
and alsa soughl to preserve the cas and chicks of game bivds by killing toxes un sight and
vipping out the nests of magpies, ludeed, there were virtuadly no foxes in Thurlestone in the
terway yeaes, until the hunting community introduced same, Village lads shot duck and
anipe vn the Lea and were oceasionally alowed to shook on farms, but in a small place,
where evervbody knew almost evervbody else, unauthorised shooting was limited. Rented
shonting lram owney and tenant farmers usaally cost o erisp white £5 nofe for the season,
patiel 1o the farmer with a promize nol to shoot mere than once o tnight. With so many
gunz u Lhe parish, there were remarkably few human easuadtios, adthongh game dogs and
lerrets sullered at Limes,

GAME BIRDS
PARTRIDGE. All the partridges in and aveund Thurlestone were wiltdsteck and were

sontwht by rough wakked up’ shooting: there were no driven birds Phey nested at the fuot, of

hedgerows and fod their voung on the abundant insects nearby. Many of them Tater migrat-
ed Lt cover crops - mangolds, turnips, swedes and Kale - from which they were Qushed dur-
ing the shooting season brom 1 September to 31 January, Ovganisedd shoots, T long o tea-
ture of the South Hame, often achieved spectacalar bags: in the cavly 1900 o small parety
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walked up & mite of rough around between the village of Thurlestone and the sea and kitloed
686 hrace before tunch, The number of bivds vapidly declined after World War 1. so that any-
hody seeking regular spart by the 197305 nocded o go to estates in neighbouring parishes
where the birds and thebr voung were protected, for example to Horswell, Courl Barlon,
Baglon or Burleigh: there they might expect to shoat up to 20 to 25 brace in a day.

There were several veasons for the dedine in partridges. In ovder to obtain the preatest
possible yield from the land. ploughing up Lo the edges of the hedgerows damaged the nest-
ing sites, The replacement of cover erops by corn, with only a littie kale remaining, deprived
the birds of one of their favowrite habitats. Later, chemical fertilisers, building development
and the splitting of farms seviously damaged their environment.

PHEASANT. Pheasant have always been scaree in Thurvlestone due 1o the Tack of wouod-
land and of an estate of sulficient size to sceommadate thew, They have been bred intermit-
tently nearby! recently for example at Bowringsleigh whores they thrived for o lime, Now,
the nearest pheasant shoots are at Katley and Cornwood.

The shooting of game birds virtually came to an end in the 1950, throngh loelc af bivds.
Then, the passage of the Firearms Ael of 1968 limited the possession of Brearms, A Lieanes
Lo Kill Game cost €6; in addition a Shot Gun Certifieate was necessary and was issued by
the police only after they had tnspected any guns and ammunition and the place where they
wetre to be kept. Wreitten permission to shoot over thetr lond Trom swo local fromers oiten
alded a saccesstul application, For securtty reasons, these strict rules have heen entoreed
since,

RABBITS. During the firsi half of this century rabbils seemed to be everywhoere in
Thurlestune, Thov were in the hedgerows, on the goll course, along te olitls and on any
waste grpnnd. Some ol Them were boen in the corntields wheve they grew and vemained
untt harvest Gme. When the eorn was reaped, from the edges imwvards, boys [rom the vil-
lage survimded the centre and waited toe them to dash eul, grabbing as many as the could
with theiv hanels. A hundved or more might be eaught in a big field and they made a very
uselul supply of meat, especially fae Bunilies where there were many childron.

The: rabbit season Josterd from September to March, allowing the young time to grow in
the surmser months, Ferreting taolk plice on Saturdays and Sundays, many of the bovs fak-
iy theiv own ferrets that their fathers had given them when thev were aged about cight or
move. The bugs went out oanomast days during the school helidays, often being allowed on
the farms where their fathers worked, Indoed, ferreting was theiv main interest in the win-
ters us they ravely went e from Thurlestone and an oceasional trip to Kingshridge was as
tiueh is tnost af them codd abford. Also, having taken home as many vabhits as were need-
ed, ey might be able ta sell the ranainder o friends,

Mauny villagers had a dug tor vubibiting, either o whippet which was ideal for hedperows or
& lutcher which was havdier and able to penetrate prickly undergrowth, They went out with
their dogs, ferrels and netting al weekends and usually caught a couple of dozen rabbits,
some of which thoy sold for about five-pence each, Boxing day was the big oceasion for rab-
biting when small groups wenl out taden with eider; towards the end of the day they were
likely to miss as many rabbits as they caught.

Few people who Heed in the Sough Flams in World War 1 are likely to forge! the mblits,
To farmers they were a pest. to almost evervhidy else they were a godsend, especially as
they were nob rationed, Whilst trappers weve no longer able to go ont af pight with their
lamps and whippets, they still had their forvets, snpres wnd nets, Many Tamilics velied on
rabbits as their sole. or al least their principal, souvee of meat and mads cortain they were
well stocked al Christmastime. Every day consygmments, mostiy enught in Tharlestone by
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the village trapper My Bartlett, were bundled into crates that were rolleeied and sent by
rail frem Kingsbridge mainly to the Midlands where restaurants weve able to offer thon as
o meat wmeal,

Aftor Warld War H, rabbits continued to Qourish until the 19505 when movxomatosiz vir-
tually elimmated them, leaving many hundreds dead with swollen and bloodstained faces
n hedges and felds. Only a few were seen in the following vears.

Whilst partridges ave now rarely seen in Thurlestone, wild pheasants have maile a JitUe
headway, despite a recent increase in foxes. Rabbits ave rapidly incveasing, but are suill iriv-
wl In numbers comupared with a hundred years ago. Shonting has beecome a ravity; vecasion-
ally farmers will try to rid their properties of foxes and sometimes a shot or twis rings oot
from the Tea. The rabbits are left vivtnally undisturbed for the time being,

1. Inchbald, G., 1968, Onee upon o Hme, for private civenbation.

Lam indeed gratefud to Messrs, David Balkwell, Ben Horn, Harvy Huggring, Kendall
MacDonald and Bill Robins without whose vecotlections and expertise this article eould not
have heen written,

NEW ZEALANDERS IN SOUTH DEVON:
A STORY OF WORLD WAR 1

Joka Cidee

On 18 August P45 a fuxed otter over Lo meters long, reached me from the New
Zeetlend Military History Sovicty in Auckland. togetier with a copy of @ bookiet given fn
all the New Zeclund troops in Torquay on Cleistinas Doy I948. It contained pho-
tographs of several larae houses around the towen and ineluded pictures of some of the
men on agricidioral work on Dartmoor. It also intimated that o mentber, Mr Herbert
Farrant, would be in the conntry carty in Scptembon He proposed (o locade as many as
possible of the proprertivs which had existed Lo e prosend time and (o recard them for
their areltive. The following aeconnt tells the story of the New Zeadond Dischorge Centre
which was sef wp in Sowth Devon. I has not been doctimented befire,

* * * Kk %

Garly in May 1917 Captain Garner, chaplain to the Now Zealand Imperial Forees, mot
members of the Torquay Chamber of Commercee and told them that 'w camp of perma-
nently unfit men whe had been practically invalided out of the sy was heing Formed
in Torquray specially fins the comvenience of the New Zealanders who had Fought and
heeame disabled’, Later, it was disclosed that many towns had been sugurested melud-
ing Weston-super-Mare and Wevmouth but as soon as General Richardson saw
Torquay he said: "This 15 |50 like] New Zealand, it will soit our men w the ground’,
Caplain Garner also told the meeting that the st condingent would be located o St
Mavychureh on the north side of Torguay. There were two large private houses with

26

extanagive grounds suitablo for this use immediately available. These were The Daison
iz Javge mansion which was demolished about 18301 and Hampton House. This s now
Hampton Court School and has lost much of its surrounding band for building and lor a
hypass,

As soon as Lhe first troops arrived later in Lthe month. U local people. buth in St.
Maryehureh and in Torquay were olfering to entortain from 'two to twentyv-five’ in their
homes, En addition, the townspeople Taid on all kinds of activitios for them: smne went.
on outings by lram, others enjoved conching trips and yet others went sailing in hoals
and yvachts,!

The scale of the sacrifice by both the Australian and New Zealand forces at Gallipoli
was, by 187, well-known to the loeal residents and which, no doult, aceounted in part
for the weleome given to the troops when they arvived. Iowever some eighty yoars
later, the seale of the aid given by the old British Empire is not tully reabisad or
acknowledged. In June 1317 the first YMCA for them was oponed in St Mavyehureh by
the Mayor of Torquay. Brigadier-General Richardson was prosent and he dizelosed that
‘New Zealand had sent nearly 100,000 people Lo the Front and had subserihed
CLO0.000 s0 that the YMOCA could follow Lhe men up'”

Barly in FHL8 even more New Zealand Ltroops were in sonth Devan and they hegan ta
oceupy Jarge howses in Torguay as well as in S5 Marychoreh, In April o secand YMCA
wig opened ad Mayeliff (now Mayelifte THolel but completely vemadelleds, o borge mid-
Victorinm period mansion on Waldon hill near the tnwn contre. An attempt was made Lo
mwake the voung =oldiers, some of them recnvering from wounds, feel at ease; ‘on the
ground Heor was a hadl lownge and reading ymom L whilst on the vight wos a most cosy
parlew handsomely furmished with piana o About 40 ladies of the district have
arranded to voluntarily act s helpers” Tt was confirmed that ahout 300 men were bil-
leted in that part of the towne At aboit the same time the Kia Toa Club (run by the
New Zealond War Unningent Associabiond swas opened in a large unfinished building
adjacint to the Strand pear Torgquay Harbowr: This has bad a chequered career since
that e, Oviginally inteaced to be o theatre, it was foe a lime & roler-skating rink,
later oogzarage ol most recently, o porade Lo shops, Throughout the years, however,
Lhe sendptored figures which wore o enhance the 'Grand Thealre have looked down
over the ever-changing seene holow,

In his speech abthe opening the ¥oyor of Torquay explained that ‘within the last ten
davs b had had to g to the watershed ou Dartmoor and there he saw a band of splen-
ditd Neaw Zealanders at wark in the matter of agricutture and they imported into the
werk most heroie measures ... Ue produce would [eventually| be divided between them
ithe Borought and the New Zeualanders”. This was part of a ve-edueation programme (or
the tronps in agricultural work. It is known that at least one of those Servicemen whn
waorked there did become a tarm-worker ‘down.under’. He retwimed to the home coun-
try’ some vears fnter and his descondents still in Bevon eomfirm this, The land at the
witlershed (Lhe building of reservobrs at Tottifird and Hennock by the old Torguay
Local Board of Health had started as long ago as the 1880 wos ariginally cultivated
under the supervision of the [British| Army Canteen Committtee and. by the end of
1817, 716 aeres were under eudtivation.' Some 243 ueries of this was in the parishes of
Bridford and Christow but it is not certain where the New Zealanders first worked, In
June 1918 the Council was offered, and bought Laplovd Barion. Soon alter Captadn
MacGowan, who seems to have been in chavge of the project, weote to ask if his troaps
cotdd cultivate Laployvd Down Swhich would shovten thme fn men to got to thew work’,
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This resulted in the entire Waterworks committee attending a mecting st Tultiferd
which allowed the New Zealanders to cullivale Laployd Down ‘on the same Lerms as
ihe other’, In September the Council was asked o help with the payment of pavaflin,
petrel aud half of the cost of chemicals for spraying. After some demur, this scems Lo
have been agreed. Finally, in December, Captain MacGowan asked lor a further 300
acres (location unknown! for use by his men,

Just as Workd War 2 was to see the departure of Gl-brides, many of the New
Zealanders marvvied British girls and (U is formally recorded in its minutes that the
Council would ‘arrange for wives of the Servicemen to attend cookery elasses at the
Homelands Centre an the pavment Lo the Counedl of out-of-pocket expenses’.

ANZAC Doy wus already wall established by 1818, In May it was celebrated in *glori-
ous weather'. Although it was still wartime, “with the exception of the cooks, practically
every New Zealnnder ot the [Hscharge Depot and the villas in St. Luke Road fell in at
the church parade which was held in Belgeave Chuareh. There was a football match and
a concert in the Pavilion in the evening which included the '‘New Zealand Discharge
Depot Piervol Troupe, the Tuis, [whemi) encoves were the order and not the exception of
the evening'.”

Shortly aflerwards one of the fow tragedies seeurred. Roland Chadwiclk eommilled
suicide; he had emigrated to Now Zealand cacly i the century and, on the fest day of
war, joined the NZ Medieal Corps, After a pertod based in Egypt he hadd tanded at,
Gallipoli, being one of the fivst to arrvive and one of the last 1o leave, Subzeguently he
went Lo France where he saw further service in the trenches. Found to be epileptic. he
was dectarved by a medical hoard *unfit for further service’. The Nts he suftfered wore
stated to be due to his exposure to shell five, The inguest verdict waos vommitted sui-
cide while temporarily insane™ Service chiefs have taken a lony time to appreciade
fubly the psychatogical problems which remain after 'active service” bul it i unlikely
that such a verdict would be passed today.

History usually states thal World War 1 ended at 11 am on the LEth dav of the
cleventh moath in 1918, The official situation was valher different. on Lthat day “there
wis an armistice when hostilities were suspended for 38 days’. This however, Inought
out the erowds around the countey. In Torguay ‘convalescent sobdiers from the [Red
Cross] war haspitals weee aunong Lhose who marched through the streets: the New
Zealanders, having heen given leave until 11 o'clock on Monday evening, formed up and
puraded through the town to the Haldon Pier, pausing at Castle Civeus Lo sing their
Famous sonyg fwhat it was is still not koown|, The masking of the streel lamps was
immedintely removed heing given their full guola of radiance on Monday ovening'”

New Zealand troups continued to pass theougds Tarley for many months afterwards,
ANZAL Day was again celebrated in 1919 when there was " large parade by Now
Zealand troops from Nos. 1, 2 and 4 Camps, about 500 men aad 200 soldiers’ wives,
AHogether some one thousand were in the parade. They did hamage to all who made
the great saervifice ... because it was on Apnit 25th at the Gallipoli lauding that the
Commonwealth {of Australial and the Dominion Taf New Zeaband | veally had their
birth a3 nations’.

However, it was towards the end of the year that the final chapters of the story Look
place, ‘Farly in November there were stirrings and unusnal seenes when 22 officers
and 328 other ranks left Haldon Pier on the Now Zealand Shipping Company’s Ruihine
(1,000 tons! for heme, Headed by the Mission Band, thoy had marched from S
blarvechwreh through the Lown cheered by Jocal townspeople amonyg whom they had
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made many [riends. About 80 wives (the English givls who had maried N7 saldicers)
alsa embarked, Aoother vessel had embarked some 500 homoeward-hound carlier in the
weok and @ thivd (eareving about 300 men) was due o sail before the end of the month.
Altogether 28,000 men bad passed through the Depot at Torguay of whowny 3,500 were
menvied. “The thct that there had only been six deaths showed how adomirable and satu-
hrious the climate of Torguay was’. However, when the New Zealand Hagd was present-
ed shavtly before, Siv Thomas MacKenzie said thal between 40000 and 50,000 had
pussed thraugh the Discharge Depotl at 8 Marvehurch, This was almost certainly in
nyveratiatement but as an indieation of the numbers involved, the Town Council had, as
a Tarewell gift, given a card of 'suitably tnseribed views of Tavquay’ to each, some 22,000
heany diztributed o all

There was one last ceremony. On 27 Decomber 1919 a memoriat in Torguay cemetery
wis unveiled 1o the six men who had died. T is in the form of a Latin cross nine teel,
high made of Portland stong on a mouldnd base with the inscription: ‘And they vise Lo
their feet as He passes by, gentlemen unafeaid’ The whole is maintained by the
Commonwealth War Graves Comimission, the stenes heing in the formal style and all
have been cleaned and vepaired recently, Meast of the houses used by the tronps have
been demolished, some to be replaced by eoncvete monadiths of doubtful taste and dura-
bitity. This siall corner of New Zoealand will remain in Devon for far longer than these.
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{Readers are advised that wpinions expressed hy reviewers ave their own and not necessar-
ily tho=e of the Editor v of the Devon History Society as a whole)

Dunkeswell. Parvish and People, by Richard Broad. {72pp. 21 illus. 3 maps 1994,
ISBN 0 0323829 0 3. No price. Privately published, Available from the author at Tencery
Cottage, Dunkeswell, EX14 0Q7.

This well researched history of a village reads as easily ax n good novel Dunkessell ix in
the midgdie of the Blackdown Hills and for many, untit recontly, the Blaskdowns were “terra
incognita’. New archaeologists und historians have begun to reveal their interesting past,
iron working since at least Roman times, eloth making along the Culm, o medieval pottery
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ab Clayhidon, marl digging in abmest eveey parish, whedstone mining at Blackborough, twe
monastic houses ab Dunkeswell and Kerswell, and a subztantial late medieval castle at
Hemyack. These form the background to Richard Broad's book and are a reminder that
Devent extends enst of the Exe and north of the A30,

fn Lih Dunkeswell was as secluded as anywhere in Devon, tucked into o remote green
valley whose streums fell into the Culm, surrounded by the wastes and moors and woods of
the then unenclased Blackdown Hills. This seclusion was disturbed in o quiet way by the
toundativn of the Cistercian Abbey of Dunkeswell in 1201 by William de Brewer, the
Loutder akso of Torre, a tough unpoptbar royal servant to Richard I, John and Tleury IF e
was buried al Duukeswell,

For more than three centuries, on whal was for them a perfect site, the Cisteveians
tarmed the land avound Dankeswell itself and al their surroanding granges, They exploited
other local resources, they had a fulling mill by 1238 and weve by ihen extracting and
smelting local suppties of iron and building fish ponds up and dewn {be valley, This weallh
creating and porhaps benevalend - the Abhol had his mwn gallows - activity came to an end
in 1539 and Dunkeswell retorned to quiet varal ohseurity for two hundred and Gifly vears,
with no vesident squire to improve or supevvise. When John Swote visited Dunkeswell in
1704 he was both surprised and appatled by the poverty of the people and their rough condi-
tions of life.

This state of affaivs wits soon to be aBered by the arvival of General Simeoe and his
formidable wite at Wolford Floase. The Simeoes enclesed the commens, bailt farmbouses,
planted trees, vebuilt Dunkeswell chureh, built o new church ont of ihe ruing of the Abbey
with a school to mateh, and rebnilt, for more or less private use, the ancient medieval
chapel at Wolford, Mrs Stmeac and her seven ummarried daughters exercised whaot scems to
have been a formidable diseipline over her tenants and the parish in goed Victorian styvle,
The famtly sold the estate fnally in 19230 Despite their eflorts some devouat beeal chape)
gaers believed that most Blackdown people lived in the siome tenoranee and superstition as
are to be found in heathen fands aned as o vemedy Brunded te Blackdewn Mission in 15673

The grear World intruded rn Dimkeswell with o hang in 1947 when an sy fjeld was come
structed by [rish Labourers, eventually to be handed vver to the US Navy, wieh anather
close by at Smeatharpe, The Americins made s impact that s stk remembored and enm-
memorated and links are st maintained. e was rom here instinlly that Joe Kennedy jur
flew to his death. U8 Army, US Navy, RAF British Avmy and others tended to meet at
Dunkeswell and occasionally ivoght o different war ot the Roval Ouls, Beobs were dropped,
aireraft erashed, Amevican drivers found the lanes dillieult and Ameciean abundanes was a
continuous, oceasionally resistible, temptation to toeals. The matorial logaey of the war s
an airfield stil in use, and a totally incongroons subuerban” bousing estete, o planniog dis-
asler, built on the top of the Bill in the teeth o the west windd, guite detachied Trom Uhe ok
village.

Richard Broad vecords all this faseinating diverse story in cavetut and foviug detail. e

must have read evervihing there ix o read relating o Dankeswell and talked Lo evervane
about the more recent past with great prafit. Flis subtitle s Parish and People” aod ovdi-
nary people, their activities - arming, orafis, trades - and their necds - education, health,
law and ovder, relief of poverty - and the way these were met, fill his ook as thes should 1o
complement the Cistercians, the Simeoes aned Wars, e Broad shows thal waoven inta all
thig web of chanpe 1s a thread of continuity. the landseape, the band and it cubitvatian, the
houges and settlements and the peaple aud their work,

This is a censiderable and sdmirable addition to PBovan's parish histories and to
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Blackdown histery. Opportunities exist to add (o this The Addingtons al Upattery, and the
Simeoes, have lefl Farge eollietions of oeally interesting papers, thal bave nat yet heen fully
studied and puldished.

Redrin Stanres

Through the Mists of Memory, by G Richavds, 1995, 183pp. 8 tllust. Privalely pub-
lished, Newpriee, ISEN 093245853 £ Growes Crass Catages, Littlehany BX 385 T

The title of this book gives no indicatiun af its contents. ¥r Richards is a Devonian by
uphringing and in his retivement: from 1908 (o 1918 he lived and was educated in
Okehompton ax D adopted son afa town grocer [n LOLE he lott tawork (o the Civil Service
tn London and this tallawed the voute tnken by iuadreds of thaurands of yaung Devonians
who conld id no work in Devon in this and the last eentury One ealoulation suygpests that
in the nineteenth century suntething like o thivd of the native populatian Teft the connty,
This, thowgh lugely unnaticed, is ona par with [eish emigeation ae the sme peried,

Far vewders of this jowenal 3 Richards” acconnt af lite in Qkehampton just boefore Lhe
Fivst World War is the best part of his hook. My Richavds' adoptive funily wore non-con-
formist - Baptist - grocers with 2 shop in the Aveade - an carly shopping madl - in the centre
of the town, above which the family lived. Most of thelr fellow tradesmen were of like per-
suaston Wesleyan, Congregationatist, Bible Christian, it was said there were as many
chapels in the town as there were pubs, Life revolved for many around the chapel, with its
treats and tess and atlendance bwiee a Sunday - and SBunday School twice more, the visity
of well known preachers and musical Moodey and Sankey evenings and Harvest Festivals,
Chapel people built their own chapels with pride, ovganised their 1ife round them. and kept
themselbves to themselves, They wore often tectotal, observed Sunday rigidly. and voted
Liberal, their watch words were dovotion to business and hard work.

Mr Richards rememboers all this and mueh more with affection and detachment. He
remembers markel day at Qkehampton, the eattle market for the farmers and the pannier
market (or their wives and the bell that rang from the Plume of Feathers to signify that the
‘market ordinary’, a veast dinner, was ready, alwavs carved and presided over by a promi-
nent farmer, He vecalls the skill and knowledge it took Lo run a grocer's shop that provided
evervone with evervihing in that Hne, from the much loved gaffron meazured out on tiny
seales, to the farge brown dry lumps of sadt cod. The cellar below the shop stoved sides of
bacon and whale cheeses and to this audience Mr Richards' uncle. a local preacher, would
practice his sermons! The shop employved eight. and some shopkeepers made enough to
retive at fiftw

Okchampton business men often had farming voots and had a bit of land to keep cattle
and sheep. Mr Richards’ family had such links and went ‘back to the land’ occastonalty, to
Biack Torrington, to gel in the harvest and shave in the munificent harvest tea, cream and
home made butter, pasties, cutrounds and cake, all with the neighbours. Other relatives ran
the Stratton Workhouse with its segregated dormitories and work of some sort for all the
inmates and the regulay tramps,

After Okehampton came the Civil Service in London, Customs and Exeise and Labouy
regutation. My Richards joined as a boy elevk and left as a Deputy Controller. His enjoyinent.
of the often complex work is apparent and there are engaging glimpses of the loolt and feet
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of the City in its hevdaw,

Mr Richards veturned to Devon ta a contenled retirement. Amongst the new fricnds he
mel was EW. Martin the authar of the Shearers and the Shorn a notable survey of Bevan
rural sociely that deserves o be read more. Maybe it was this contact that stimuhisted Ay
Richavds to wrile Lhis interesting hoale. [n his lite time the world has changed nlmost oot of
recognition, and this change, often fior the worse In Mr Richards’ view, is well recorded in hiz
hool, [t is this reviewer's beliel thal everyvone on retirement should wiite their lilestories
for, at least, their families and for fulore historians. Mr Richards has set them a good egam-
ple.

Robin Stanes

Plymonth: a pictorial history by CGuy Fleming, Chichester, Phillimore, 1985, [1241pp.
163 illust 12495, (SBN O 85033 983 4

Alrvendy the possessor of several of this publisher's excellent short hislories, [ was well
aware of both the high qualifieations of the authors (inctuding our own Rolin Staneas and
the standard of the textual material o them. This pictorial approach, however was noew to
me althouph { see that, aveording to the dust-jacket, a similar velume exists for the ity of
Exuter

Plymouth has over 160 illustrations, mostly pholographs, dating {rom the mid-nineteenth
cantury. Each has a caption which olfers an explanation or reason for its tncloxion. These
arve rather longer than those nremally foond and puts the location, subject o event into the
history of its time. There i= o short introductory chapler telling Plymnuti's history briefly
and why i has beecome so important in the south west aver the past eighty or so years Tt
was rather surprising, although perhaps not inappropriake, thae the section called
‘Plymouth Worthies' includes both Wayne Sleep and Angela [ippon, As this account s nec-
essarily briel, there ntight have been o short biblingraphy ndded sa that (hose who wish to
vead further, ey do s,

As o Devoniag, althaagh net o Plvmouthian, browsing through its pages revived many
memwries, The buok is divided into various sections and subjeets, The st group called "The
Pre-Wor City Centre’ vecalled early chitldhood visits, However, they do show haw great was
the devastation of the ‘blite’ in early 1941 and were a reminder that the burning city could
he seen over thivty miles away w Torquay. “The Post-War City Centre’, towards the end of
the book, records its re-birth (o the plang of Abererombie and Watson from the late Forties
anwards,

There was a momenl of noslaigia, Prcture Nu 82 in the “Transport’ sequence shows a
large Brush Company two-bogie tram ino Lb on Route No 12 in Church Street, Dovonport,

enroute to Prince Rock, This was oie of those suld by the Torquay Tramway Company tr
the city council carly in 1934, 1t hadl @ new Teaze-of-life’, remaining in service until 1942,
There are many photographs of the twnsholk too: some were taken 4oo long ago to be vecoy-
nisable but others may even be family or friends”. 1 see that Mr Fleming thanks the
Western Morning News (as well ag people of Plymoulh?! for its assistance. [U s an indieation
of the Bine pictorial archives owned by the newspapers of Devin.

Johon Pile

3

The English Hospital 1070-1570, by Nicholas Qrme and Margaret Webster, Yale
University Press, 1995, 308pp.,, ilustrated, ESBN 0-300-08055.1, £30

The title: of this book does not adequately cover its contents, since it combines a comprehen-
sive and np-to-date review of all facets of the gencval history of English medioval and early
Tudnr hospitals by Niehalas Ovme in its first pact, with a second part which provides his in-
depth regional stidy of hospitals in the Suuth West of England in the same periud, seeom-
nanied by a gazetteer corpiled in caltaboration with Margarel Webster (who conlzibuted
many of the Devon entriesy which supphies histories of individual institutions as far as they
have vet been identified in Cornwalt and Dovan.

The synthesis provided in Part | is welt overdue, for its predecessor, The Medicoal
Huspitals of England, by Rolha Mary Clay, thiugh an admirable work, was published as
lomg ago as L809. Much work bas hoen done since then, notably the list of known hospitals
compiled by Knowles and Hadeock in 1871, the accounts of widividual hospitals on county
bases in varieus velevant velumes of the Vietovia County History fwhich ave lacking for a
number of counties, tncduding Cornwall and Devor and general discussion accompanying
regiotal studies by mare vecenl scholars, The sources for this Jarge topic are particadaty
scattered and vnsystematie, nndoubtedly there will be new research yet to came on individ-
val foundations, as exemplified by the work of both authors in Part 1 But Orime's clear and
comprehensive geneval swrvey displays a masterly grasp ot all tacets of Lhe pvsent state of
the history of huspitals within the given period, well iHustrated and with an exemplary hib-
Hography, 1L profoundiy ane widely depicts the medioval inlerpretation of the Christian
ethic of charily in various divections, not least by stressing the anspecific nature of the del
inition of "hospital’, covering as it did medical and caving functions, extending ulso to educa-
tion and Lhe encourvapement of scholars, bul soe betng also communities often difficult to
separate fromw the nature of religious houses.

The elear and méthodical treatment of this large and eomplex subject proceeds From
investigation of origins to changes by the time of the Reformation. Archbishop Lanfranes
foundation of hospitals at Canterbury in the 10R0s is shown to anticipate various Inter
developments, consisting as it did of 5 dinble hospital for the enre of the infirm of hoth sexes
at the North gate of Canterbury, served for their religicus needs by vegular canons of the
well-endawed church of 8t Grepory on the opposite side of the street, thon un the west of the
eity al Harbledown, separale houses for men and women lepers. Many of these elements
persisted - the position an the edue of a city to attract travellers’ alms as well ax offer sue-
coull, spivitual care by Augustiniaa canoms, care for the long-tevm innfirm segregated by sex,
and a preveeupntion with sectuded Lhough not closety supervised care fin lepors, for special
cave for lepers wirs one of the most important aspects of hogpitad development. The: tepics of
the survey proceed methodically though the nature, siting and functions of hospitals: their
special contributions ol worship and chavity, care of the sick, admission of travellers and
assoctation with anchurites; theiv contributions to educatinn and scholarship; their organi-
zation, rules, endowments, patrons, buildings and layauts (with numerous exemplary
planst anrl consideration ahout the inmates themselves, ending then with general changes
over the later middle ages. This in @l 3 an expert. eugrossing and indispensable overview
al the whale subject.

However, Part 1T, the regional study of the South West of England, i pevhaps the portion
of the haok of most interest to local readers, which. with an introductory chapter which
makes campurisons of this part of England with the whole, contains a body of individual
histires of aboul seventy-six hospitals, almshouses and groups of lepers in Cornwall and
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Devon between ¢.1100 and e.1540 (having muade variows corrections o the Knowles and
Hadeock lists), Lhe sort of studies which perhapsz ought to have been available ta us if the
Victoria Histories had proceeded for Cornwall cond Devon as thiey had done for =0 many
other counties. But we are more [ortunate in having had Lo wait, these histories ace the
product of tmmediately recent research by Nicholas Orme and Margavet Webster which has
given a strong impetus to knowledge in ihis vegion. Barly evidence is scanty, but in the
accounts of the executors of Bishop Bitton {1307} forly places ave Hsted in the region
where he directed chavity should be paid o lepers, a most interesting indication of their dis-
tribution. The histories of individual bospitals vary of course from Hitle more than bare
identifications to quite sulstintial histories of such well-docomented institutions as St
Mory Magdalene in Excter, which originates earvlier in the twelfth centovy than the date of
Bishop Burtholomew's grand, and particularly 3¢ John's Hospilal in Exeter, of which
Margarel Webster provides an interesting and suceinet aceount - hul heve is an institation
which is wverdue For o (ulb investigation, its eartulary still has much to tell us about the city.
In fact, inevitable nterest is foetsed on Exeter's range of hospitals and almshouses, which
it is very good to have sorted out and carefully elucidated (hat 5t Roche, existing only in the
early sisleenils century, cheek by jow! with Bonwilles in Coombe 8t, is surely an oddity of its
kind?1 I ks nol possible to do mire than make a few mentions such as these of the wealth of
interest Lo be found in thise aceounts of o many institutions seattered across Devon and
Cornwall, bul it is irvesistible (o mention PDrne’s aceount of the surely remarkably webl-clog-
umented hospital for poor infirm priests which was founded by Bishop Walter Staplodon ab
Clyst Gabiiel tn 13089-12, which illustrated so vividly the effeet of the Black Death upon the
institution.

As a whole this book is an impressive achievemenl presented ina maost aceessible and
clearly expressed manner, an essentiad tool for the study of 16 subjoct. 8 is well praduceed,
awl has well-chosen tHustrations, [Ls authors have put us i thedr debt by providing sa sat-
Ehving a volume,

Atechrev Ershine

Devon: A Genealogieal Bibliography, Volume 1: Devon Uencalogical Sources.
Volume 2: Devon Family Histories and Pedigrees. By Stuat A Koy, Pablished
by 5.4 & ML Raynunmud, 6 Russet Avenue, Exeter, 2nd edition, 1994, 83pp and Gdpp, €835
and £5.EHE including postage, ISBN (-8588144-7-8 and ISBN 0-09588144-6.5.

The Devon volumes were the [irst to he published of Stuart Raymond’s several county list-
ings of genealogical sources. Four vears later they have now appeared in a second edition
printed v tess dowdy paper and in a clearer, crisper Lvpetaee, and wilh well over 108 addi-
tional eitations, according o the inteoduction fand aver 400 aceording to publicity Miers).
One volume Hsts printed matevials on filteen Lhemes, including local journals, probate
records, directories and woos, wmanicipal aud pacochial administration, and emigration,
while the second has o sectious listing pedigrees, hivgraphical diclionaries, occupational
information and family histories.

As an aide-memaotre for historians the worlt 1s remiarkably vseful. What was the date and
the exact title of Sellman’ brok about village schools? Where on earth was thal transeript of
the will of Henry Gandy of Ixeter? Surehy theve was once a handy Cruwys family pedigree
in the Trensactions? To have the answers almost instantly available on one’s shelf is a god-
send, and for that alone all members of the Deven History Society would do well to boy it
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To the more numerous amatenr genenlogists and family histovians alwhom it s ioplicit-
Iy divected through those fliers in the hohby magazines they readl. recommendalioms have to
he mare cautious. 1 could have heen more strangly emphasised that these are listings anly
af printed sources of some length, and that the publications eovered contain much mare
information in the notes and queries that Raymond has deliberntely exeluded. Despite his
encowragenent of veaders to make use of the interlibrary loan svstom. actess o the spe-
eialized libraries in Breter would be necessacy in order Lo trovk down many of the vare
houks wnel thuse sent by their authors From abroad. As this is so, mre attention could hetp-
tully have been paid to the wealth of primary seurces which are ovailable in loead archives
and Fanily bistory soctedy eoltections. 10 wonld be more satistactory, too, to know up to what
date refirences had been culled from journals such as The Deven Historien and The Devon
Fimily fhstorion, and whether the reason for therve boing no references to, for example, The
Pevouian Year Book, Family History and Family Tree Mogasine i that they contain nothing
relevant o Devaushive families or rather shat they lave not yet been explored.

Adthough, as Ragmond himsell states fraakly in the introduetion, the bibliography is not
comprehensive, it wis o striking achievement o record as mueh as he did as quickly as he
did, and he has now enbrged thal original praduct. One assumes that suceessive, ever
chunlkeer editions will be prochuced in the Goture, graduably oliminating omissions. For me,
as a praclising genealogist. the frar work to be added would be Rowe and Jackson's invalu-
able Exeter Freemen L266-19687 with it leugthy lists of names and oecupations, especially
of Freemen who qualified by suvcession to their fathers, Other readers’ suggostions will
doubtless he weleome to the industrious compiten

Tan Stenvle

The Overland Way, by Hazel Eindlev-Wilmol, Westeountry Books, 1995, 32pp. Paperhuck
£2.95p. [SBN 1 898386 13 7

{ssue number 44 of The Peven Histortan eontained a very vownble review by the Coanty
Avchaeologst of the awthor's Yesferday's Exmoor, and this present much slighier publica-
tion s an extension oF her work on prehistoric voutewsays, According to the back cover the
book reveals her diseovery of a hitherto unknown Bronze Age *Way', although Miss Fardley-
Wil writes ware madestly of offering o new hypothesis - that of an overland trade roate
fromt Porlock Bay ta Wevimonth Bay

The roule proposed keeps as tar as practicable to high ground. over Exmoor and the
Brenduns, crossing the Biver Fone close Lo its sowree before reaching the Devon-Snmoerset
bovther at Clavhauger parish, The bordey is then fatrly doscly followed apart from o diver-
sion wlmost inte Holeosmbe Hogus village before returning to the counly boundary as it
clirndns 1o the Blackdowns vidge, ‘Then the roule continues east along the boundiry, and on
o Castle Nersche hefore fallowing the A30 for some seven miles, passing theough Chard.
Then it pnssis sonth of Crewkevne to ford the River Axe also near ils suuree. it then heads
for Tygardon hillfint but the (nad approach to Weymonth Buy s Joft rather vague,

Virtually adl of the voute eau be Followed today, by one menns or another, hut the fongest
‘missing section is the climb of the Bladkdowns ridge. and as na racteway is mentioned in
the tenth-century Cudmstock charter it seems tnhave heen lost loug agos the ill-starred
Harold would surely have had Lo have found an alternative (o tlas soction when he joined
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his father.

The author regards the main users as having been traders in metats such as copper and
gold between Ireland and Fravee, but | eauld not help noling the omission of any reference
to & tangible link between the two extremties, The tate Leslie Grinsell referred in his pio-
neering The Arvliaenivgy of Everoo th finds of implements of Portland chert, atiributed to
the Mesalithic peviud. in the Minehead area, but he assumed their presence resulted from
coastal traffic. 1s it Lon fancilul o suggest that the Branze Age traders were following a
route abready several milleania old?

This boak provides a very thought-provoking conlribution to Lhe debate on the prehistoric
South-West, but whether the auther has dene enough Lo convinee sceptical readers is some-
thing that the seeptical readers must decice for themselves,

Tony Cotlings

Walking the Stories & Legends of Dartmoor, by Michael Beanie, Peninsuln Press.
L9495, 883pp. Paperback, £5.99. ISBN 1 872640 35 4.

The fow of Dartmoor walking books shasvs no sign of drying up. Walks belwoeen pubs. the-
ntatic witlks, walks desertbed from air photographs, and now walks linking stories and ey
ennels

This latest publication takes a number of legends and after an agensunt of the story a
raute is desertbed which conducts the wallor past or to the object of the tale. Some of the
walks dre quite long, such as the 13-mile one from Chagford to Scorhill. neross Uy moer Lo

CGvey Wethers and back to the start. This lengthy route illustrates ‘the Buthless wives of
; g

Chagliwd', astory Arst recounted by Buth St Leger Gordon in The Witchoroft and Folldore
of Dartmonr. Each walk is introduced with detiails of the start and finish, and an adeguate
sketeh map wnd drawing, parking directions, length, time, degree of difficalty, and a route
summary, but one wishes there was more information ahout the places passed on the way,
and a good deal ol road walking iz sometimes nocessary.

Brian Le Messurier

A Glimpse of Dartmoor Prison, by Trevor Jones, Peninsula Press. 1995, 34pp.
aperback, £2.94 ISBN 1 8726401 7 6

The Peninsula Press is publishing a series of small books showt Bartmoor subjects with
titles beginning A Giimpse of . Cand this is the Watest, and aae of the besl.

The author was born in Tavistock, works af Dartineor Prisaon, and has been a journalist,
s the hook, although shght enough te have staple binding, is well researehed and written.
4 is Mustrated with 20 half-tones, including several unesual pictures reproduced from
paintings kepl at the prison, The inside back cover bears oousefal chronology of the main
evenls in Lhe prison’s hilfe fream its establishment to the presoent day, but there is ng hibliog-
raphy, which is a pity.

Brian Lo Messurier
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Memories of Mamhead and Ashcambe, enllected and collated by Kate Fincham-Poswell
and Tim Williams. Obelisk Publications, 2 Chareh Hill Pinhoe. 20pp. 28 Qlusteations. £3.50

The purchaze of an sld cottage at Mamhead by one of the editors and a wish to know about
the people who had fived n it started a guest that broadened out into an aceount of life in
the two willages vom the 19205, The stories are told in their own words either by the partic-
ipnts o by thedr childven. The cover is extensive giving a picture of how people were edu-
coted, employed and amused themselves in two small and intimate communities. If ihe cot-
tages lacked almost all modern conveniences the people wha lived o them wore happy,
helped each vther and made much of their own enlertaimment. There was no erirae, and ill-
ness 1s not remembered, Characters and incidents abounded. There was the rablit caleher
whe eould take eighty on a good day and whose nose was flat from repeatedly falling off s
bieyele when drunk, and the bova who played practieal jokes on the cocklewamon, A twmer
housemaid ot Mambead House remembers how Sir Robert Newman, later Lovrd Mamhead,
would sit up Lo lel them in after they had heen to dances, while there was the Farmers wite
who abways washed her face hefore opening her front doot te visitors,

The older informants all regret the disappearance of much of the Joeal wildlilfe and tow-
ers following the destruetion of hedges and woods but agreo that though most things have
changed they would not like to live elsewhere. For their pavt the ediiors have wisely imiled
historical backgnound to the minimum necessavy to iThistrate the sperkers’ stovies It is 4
way of recording oral history that other parishes may well wish to copy. 'They have chosen a
ring binding with broad page double columms and have assembled o guod seleetion of pie-
tures of people and places.

Adrian Reed

The Bloady Eleventh: History of the Devonshire Regiment Vol 11 1815-1914 and
Volume HI 1915-1969 by W.J P Aggert. Published hy The Devonshire and Dorset
Regirent, Exvior 1895 €400 xxi plus 518pp and xviii plus 686pp, both with iHustrations,
maps, chronologivad tables, iblingraphies and appendices. ISBN 0-9512655-1-2 and 0-
D5 E2655-2-0

To write a repimentad history is o daunting tasl. One'’s readership will be eritical indeed,
vanging from military historians in universities and military schools through professional
soldiers ol all ranks te the regiment’s Gamilies who will expect to read of the expleits of
Greal Unele Fred. The most deadly evities will be luund among the old soldiers, the veterans
who beliove that they know exactly how il was beeause they were there. Major Aggett faced
an additional hazard tn having a hard ael to fotlow; Colonel Robinson’s Volume I, published
in 1988, was wirdely acelaimed as oo mode] regimeatal histery. Many readers have waited
expectantly throwsh the intervening seven years for the new volumes to appear.

They have not waited iy vain, Major Aggelt has done anescellent job. In a sound Lactical
move he has consalted o sdvance the historiang, the soldiers, the families and the veter-
ans) their contributions have enhanced the fruits of extensive research in record offices, reg-
imental archives and libravies, From all this material he has distifled an absorbing account
of Devon's eounty regiment over o hundred and $ifty vears, In these two vehumes the profes-
sionals and the schelacly will find good history well supported by relerences and souree

&
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notes, families will flad all that they may wish o read of CGrreat Uncle Fred, with a nige
diseretion exercised i the reporting of some exploits. Bven the vetorans will approve the
careful weaving of diflering accounts to present a eoherind picture of complex battle situie
tiona, Above all, the books ave thavaughly readable; this evitie thund himsell reading long
inta Lhe night, faseinated by the narrative,

The Lloventh Regiment of Foot was, like all British regiments in the cighteenth contury,
a mivehing regiment with o permanent home, In 1782 the autherities sought ta allocate
recruiting areas Lo the vavious regiments. The then eolonet of the Bleventh expressed a
preference for Wiltshive; as might have been expected he was given Norih Devon. [E mat-
tered little. Then, tnd far many years to come, the vanks of the regiment weve Tled with
Irish soldiers. Many of their officers, too, came om Ireland among other places. Serving
with Wellington's army in the Peninsula, and in the gavvisons of (reland and Avstralio, the
vegiment saw little of Devon antil the Cavdwad] veformis of the 18705 broughl a permanent
depot in Exeter. The two regular battalions of the Fleventl: then hecsime the Devonshire
Regiment, to be joined snon by the twe hagtadions of the Devon Militia, and by the county's
five Volunteer battalions, The roots of the vegiment became Brmiy planted in the county.

The last chapters of Volume 1T and the whole of Volume [ are comeerned with the twen-
Lieth century, years of war and change. The tirn ot the centary saw both vegular batelions
and a volanteer company fighling the Boers in Seuth Alviea, In World War One many bat-
talions, vepular, territneial and wartiog: service, servisl i France and Flanders, in the
Meditervansan and Middhe Bast, fn Russia and oo the Novth West frontier of Tadia, Woeld
War Two brought move action Lo Lhe Devons - again in Northwest Evrape and the
Mediterranean, also in Burma. The voeuars batween and after saw the vegulars engaging ene-
mies in China, on the North West Frontier, in Malaya and in Kenya. Majur Aggett’s narea-
tive follows all these campaigns, with many o tale of endurance andd gallantry, as well as
lighter moments adding vartety to the sago.

The Blowdy Elveenth is all aboud soldiers, but it is nol all about fighting: hove. too, is
social history. We tearn of ife in mid-nineteenth eontury Svdney, how Victorias soldivrs,
other ranks as well as olfieers, lived o India, and of long vovages in troopships. Theve is the
curialls episode of the Lavonie. sunk by a U-boat off the West Afiican coast, and the efforts
ot the German and French navies to save the Britizh familios and [talian prisoners, hin-
tered by the hostilities of the allied aiy forces. There is hunting and shooting for game in
India - by private soldiers: and there are the deadly ravages of cholera.

With the pubtication of these volumes The Regiment kas eompleted the host of alf the
British Armoy's regimental histories, Major Aggett, and the regimental commitees that have
so ably supported him, have reason to he proud indeed, At 240 these volumes are not cheap,
but they are, withuut deabt, well worth the price,

John R
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Minutes of the 25th Annual General Meeting held at the
School of Education,University of Exeter, 21 October 1995.

Present: In the Chair, the President, Dr Basil Greenhill: ¢, 40 members of the Society.

t Apologies: Mestnimes M. Drewe and M. Stanbraok: Dr 3. Rendel

2 The Minutes of the last AGM. as printed in The Decan istorian 50, weve approved, and
sigmed by the Chairman, There were oo Matters Adising

Secretaries’ Reports Mrs § Stivling reported an increase in the seelety's activities, Dy
dargaret Gelling had spoken on the subject of place-naanes at a well-sttended meeting held
Jointly with the Devon Archacelogical Society in February, Suggestons for joint meetings
with other local societies would be welrame, At the spring conference i Plymouth Poul
Brough and Elayee Dewning had spoken on Uhe photographic archive of the Western
Marning News, ond the TSW Film Archive, respectively, The altendinee had been disap-
puinting, but o Farge number of local people as well os BHS menibers had attended the
suminer conlerenee at Honiton where Robin Stanes spoke on the corpupt elections in
Homiton and dark Stovie on Incal lovalties in Bast Devon duriegs the Civil War Mes Stirling
thanked all concerned with organising these events,

The Society conlinued to be involved in matters of importanee W local histoviang, and ita
prompt getion over proposed road-building over part of Braunton Great Field had helped to
lead to a modilication of those plans, The Secretany hag sent follow-up letters L0 the Local
Gioverntnent Commission on the subject of the preservation of the county’s svehive and local
studies resourees, und had written o braries wrdng the maintenance of the Joeal history
book fund, Another letter Lo Devon County Couneil had sarned of the danger to the water-
supply to the Grand Western Canal posed by works at Westleigh Quarsy neawr Burlescombe,
Mrs Stivling thavked her Fellow secretaries and the treasurer for their help, and asked il
anyone would like to volunteer (o act ax minutes secretary in place of Dr Grant.

The Chairman thanked Mues Stirbng far her repart and work over the vear

Treasurer’s Report My E. Huavdon reported a net defieit of only 104, compared wilh
€164 Jnst vear, due to a number of memlaers taking ot life membership, The mersased cost
of stalimery and printing had been offset by sales, which had trebled, and inferest fvom the
building society, which had quadrupled. He presented the accounts, explaining that the
Charity Commission now allowed an independent examination instead of o full andit tor
acconnts of less thin £10,000. The Soviety’s reports had thevefore been independently
examined by Mr AW Gore of Honiton. The mecting adopted the accounts and appointed
Mr Gore as the Society’s ofticia) independent examiner,

The Chairman praposed & vote of thanks to Mre Gore, and thanked the treasurver alzo for his
wirk wear the yonr

Editor's Repovt Mrs Harris thanked ali researchers and wrilers converned with issues
number 3 and &L of The Devon Historian, and was pleased to report that they haed provid-
ed material for sume of the remoter parts of Devon. She reported an improvement in the
presentation of copy, bul wrped all intending contributers ta adhere Lo the Touse stybe’ as
sob uub on page 2 of every issue. She particularly asked conceibutors to remember by use
double-spacing, to avoid exlra cherges from the printer In the iterests of balance, articles
will be limited to 2,500 wortds in future, but shorter pieces or those with a tight touch will
still be very welcome, Mrs Harvis asked for capy for the spring issue to he submitted by 30
November, and thanlked Mrs Stivting and her helpers for dispatehing copies by post twice a
year,
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